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4. National Park Service Certification

eby certify that this property is:
entered in the National Register
_ determined eligible for the National Register

__determined not eligible for the National Register

Date of Action

_removed from the National Register

Signature of the Keeper

5. Classification
Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.)
Private:

Public — Local X

Public — State

Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District

Site

Structure

Object
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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register 0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
EDUCATION: school

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)
VACANT: not in use
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7. Description

Architectural Classification

(Enter categories from instructions.)

LATE 19™ AND 20™ CENTURY REVIVALS: Colonial Revival
MODERN MOVEMENT: International Style

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: BRICK; SYNTHETICS: rubber; ASPHALT

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

Located on an 8.3-acre lot less than a mile from South Hill’s commercial center, the John Groom
Elementary School is a one-story, redbrick building with an H-plan and cross-gable roof. Built in
1949, the school includes a one-story auditorium and cafeteria addition dating to 1950. Colonial
Revival details includes the overall symmetrical composition, the primary entrance’s wood
surround with plain pilasters, a flat frieze, and a triangular pediment, as well as the double-leaf
doors with a multiple light transom, symmetrically arranged windows with six-over-six wood
sash, and lunette vents in the gable ends. Attached to the 1950 addition via a hyphen is a 1960
classroom wing with typical Modern characteristics, notably horizontal massing, paired windows
with eight horizontal lights, and plain brick pilasters separating the paired windows; a tall
corrugated-metal cornice with aluminum coping that sheathes the eaves and the built-up low
shed roof are late-twentieth-century alterations. Overall, however, the building maintains a high
degree of integrity, particularly on the interior where the original wall, ceiling, and floor finishes;
and doors, cabinets, closets, bookshelves, blackboards, bulletin boards, restrooms, and
auditorium stage remain intact. The original windows have been maintained in good condition as
well. The school faces south toward Plank Road which intersects with the property’s crescent-
shaped access drive. A grass lawn surrounds the entire complex with deciduous and evergreen
shrubs lining the building’s perimeter.
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Narrative Description
Setting

The John Groom Elementary School is located nine-tenths of a mile west of South Hill’s
commercial center. The building is rotated approximately thirty degrees from true cardinal
direction alignment. However, for the purposes of this document the following description is
written as if the property has actual north-south orientation.

The one-story, gable-roofed, redbrick, H-plan, 1949 school faces south toward Plank Road in the
southeast quadrant of an almost square, trapezoidal 8.3-acre lot. A one-story, side-gable-roofed,
red brick auditorium and cafeteria wing completed in 1950 extends from the original building’s
northwest corner. A long north-south corridor at the wing’s east end leads to the one-story, flat-
roofed, red brick, 1960 addition. The parcel’s slope to the north allows for two small basement
rooms at the 1949-1950 building’s northeast and northwest corners. The grade change also
results in the 1960 classrooms being at a lower elevation than the 1949-1950 building.

The school’s crescent-shaped asphalt-paved access drive intersects with Plank Road south of the
building. A grass median fills the space between the concrete curb and the street. North of the
drive, two tall deciduous trees flank the concrete sidewalk that leads to the primary entrance.
Deciduous and evergreen shrubs, most of which is volunteer growth, line the building’s
perimeter. A grass lawn surrounds the complex.

An unpaved drive extends north from the lot’s southeast corner to the rear yard. Unpaved
parking areas in the parcel’s west section accommodate faculty vehicles and buses. A concrete
sidewalk connects the parking areas to the school entrances. The lot’s west section is currently
being utilized as a hay field.

Plank Road and the dead-end Smith Street respectively serve as the south and west parcel
boundaries. Modest one-and two-story, gable-roofed, late-twentieth-century dwellings stand on
Smith Street’s west side. Similar mid- to late-twentieth-century residences and a few large
commercial and industrial buildings flank Plank Road, which is a heavily trafficked corridor.
Sizable lots north and east of the school are wooded. The 55-acre town-owned Parker Park,
located to the northwest between Smith Street and Raleigh Avenue, encompasses recreational
facilities including nine lighted baseball/softball/soccer fields, three basketball courts, a sand
volleyball court, picnic shelters, and walking trails.

John Groom Elementary School, 1949, 1950, 1960, contributing building
Original Building (1949) and Auditorium/Cafeteria Wing (1950)

Exterior
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The one-story 1949 school’s H-shaped footprint comprises a five-bay-wide, east-west-oriented,
side-gable main block and flanking two-bay-long front-gable wings. Masons executed the
redbrick veneer which is laid in a distinctive common bond pattern with two courses of stretchers
followed by a course of alternating stretchers and headers. A simple Colonial Revival-style wood
surround with plain pilasters, a flat frieze, and a triangular pediment ornaments the recessed
primary entrance in the south elevation’s center bay. The original double-leaf wood door has
four-square-panel bases and nine-pane upper sections surmounted by a six-pane transom.

Tall six-over-six double-hung wood sash windows illuminate the interior. The slightly projecting
window sills are cast-stone. Paired sash windows light the office and library bordering the
entrance. The remainder of the facade contains two groups of five classroom windows. A flat
wood fascia with molded edges tops the window openings.

Round-arched, louvered, wood attic vents with header-course lintels pierce the gables of the
wings’ blind south elevations. The east and west walls each contain two bays of five classroom
windows. At the east elevation’s north end, a single-leaf steel door with a square-panel base and
a four-square-pane upper section secures the basement mechanical room.

Much of the north (rear) elevation is obscured by vegetation. A square brick chimney that serves
the basement generator rises from the northwest corner of the east wing’s blind north wall. A
straight handicap ramp with a wood deck, railing, and flat-roofed canopy extends east-west next
to the main block’s north elevation. Concrete steps initially provided access to the rear entrance’s
double-leaf door. The ramp’s east end now covers the steps. An identical entrance in the main
block’s west bay became an internal corridor opening in conjunction with the auditorium and
cafeteria wing’s construction. The north elevation’s fenestration differs from the south fagade in
that single windows illuminate the restrooms on either side of two classrooms lit by groups of
five sashes.

The auditorium/cafeteria wing’s brick veneer, windows, and doors emulate those of the original
building. The north and south elevations’ four west bays mirror each other. Single tall aluminum-
frame jalousie windows with five horizontal panes pierce the west bay, lighting the stage.
Entrances east of the stage retain original double-leaf wood doors with four-square-panel bases
and nine-pane upper sections. Pairs of fixed six-pane sash surmount the doors. East of the doors,
paired, tall, six-over-six, double-hung, wood sash windows provide ample light. The south
elevation contains only two bays of windows as the east end intersects the original building. The
north elevation has an additional auditorium/cafeteria bay as well as a single kitchen window.
Concrete steps with metal-pipe railings lead to the entrance near the north elevation’s west end.
West of the entrance, the single-leaf wood door that provided access to the basement storage
room has been removed. The wing’s west elevation is blind with the exception of a round-
arched, louvered, wood attic vent with a header-course lintel.

Interior
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The school’s H-shaped footprint comprises a main block with a C-shaped corridor and flanking
wings. The entrance vestibule at the south elevation’s center opens into the east-west corridor.
On the corridor’s south side, a two-room office suite is west of the vestibule with a library to the
east. The main block encompasses four classrooms, two on either side of the corridor. Restrooms
accessed from the north-south corridors flank the north classrooms. Each wing contains two
classrooms.

Interior finishes are remarkably intact. The upper portion of each wall is painted concrete block.
Chair rails and tall baseboards with molded upper edges frame the wainscot, which is
distinguished by painted Keene cement parging. The wainscot paint has failed due to high
moisture levels and is now peeling. The square, vinyl-composition-tile floors have also suffered
water damage. Dropped acoustical tile ceilings, linear fluorescent lighting, and ceiling fans have
been installed throughout. A few ceiling tiles have been removed to expose the original
insulated-panel ceiling, which is in poor condition. Radiators heat the building.

In the office, a central partition wall encompasses a large window opening and a low partial-
height swinging door. A key cabinet with a raised-panel door is recessed in the east wall. Wood
shelves with molded baseboards and cornices line the library walls. Most are original, but the
more simply executed northwest section was a later addition.

Wood doors with paneled bases, nine-pane upper sections, and three-pane operable transoms
remain throughout the building. The majority of classrooms retain wood-frame blackboards and
bulletin boards and a full wall of built-in cabinets and long, narrow coat and storage closets. In
most cases, a closet and a storage cabinet flank three sets of two-panel double-leaf coat closet
doors that swivel on top-mounted hinges. A single-leaf door secures each outer closet and a
double-leaf ten-pane upper door and a short paneled double-leaf lower door enclose the storage
cabinets. Closets retain wood shelves and metal coat hooks. The two north classrooms in the
main block each have a small corner restroom with a single toilet and a wall-mounted sink
adjacent to the restroom entrance.

The east wing’s south classroom is the most altered. The central portion of the coat closet that
divided it from the classroom to the north has been removed and a faux-wood-paneling-sheathed
partition wall erected to create three small rooms along the south wall.

The multiple-stall restrooms accessed from the corridors have parged ceilings and walls,
soapstone partition walls, and white porcelain sinks and lavatories. The east (girl’s) restroom
retains two-panel stall doors and a square vinyl-composition-tile floor. The west (boys’)
restroom has a replacement square terra-cotta-tile floor installed in summer 1955.

The once-exterior entrance at the west corridor’s north end became an internal corridor opening
upon the auditorium/cafeteria wing’s construction. Steps lead down to the east-west corridor.
Two single-stall restrooms with two-panel single-leaf doors are on the corridor’s north side. The
kitchen wraps around the restrooms. The remainder of the wing comprises a large open room
with a stage at the west end. As the room functioned as both an auditorium and cafeteria, it did
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not have fixed seating. The stage spans the entire west wall. Four wood steps at either end of the
stage lead to the hardwood platform. Velvet curtains are suspended from the ceiling on steel
rods. Removal of some dropped acoustical ceiling tiles has revealed the steel roof trusses.

Double-leaf doors on the north and south walls near the stage allow exterior egress. The two-
door corridor entrance is in the room’s southeast corner. A frame wall separates the kitchen and
serving line from the auditorium/cafeteria. The serving line entrance is on the kitchen’s south
wall and the exit in its northwest section. The small window north of the exit allowed for tray
return adjacent to the sink. The built-in cabinets and shelves on the window’s south side are
original. A pantry and a utility room occupy the kitchen’s southeast section.

The 1949 building includes a small basement mechanical room at its northeast corner with a
poured-concrete floor, a formed-concrete ceiling, and brick and concrete-block walls. The room
retains a generator, pump, and electric circuit boards. The storage room beneath the
auditorium/cafeteria wing’s northwest corner has an earth floor, unpainted brick walls, and an
unfinished ceiling. Horizontal boards and a board-and-batten door create a closet at the room’s
northeast corner. Wood shelves line the east wall.

Classroom Addition, 1960
Exterior

The Modern addition is characterized by running-bond redbrick-veneered walls and square brick
pilasters that regularly punctuate the north and south elevations, framing pairs of tall aluminum-
frame jalousie windows with five horizontal panes. Each of the four north and three south
classrooms’ exterior walls encompass four paired windows as well as a narrow, three-pane,
aluminum-frame, jalousie restroom sash. Window openings feature steel lintels and slightly
projecting concrete sills above a single-header course. Steel exterior doors have square-panel
bases, three-horizontal-pane upper sections, and rectangular single-pane transoms. The originally
flat roof retains a deep overhang. The tall corrugated-metal cornice with aluminum coping that
sheathes the eaves and the built-up low shed roof are late-twentieth-century additions.

The addition’s southwest corner is offset to accommodate the west entrance. A double-leaf door
opens into the east-west corridor. The west elevation is otherwise blind.

A double-leaf door in the third bay from the south elevation’s east end provides access to the
furnace room. Rectangular louvered-steel vents surmount the door. Paired sash illuminate the
furnace room, while the storage room to the east has only a single window.

A flat-roofed concrete-block two-room addition projects from the east elevation’s center. The tall
corrugated-metal cornice has aluminum coping and deep eaves. South of this extension, the
brick-veneered east wall is blind with the exception of a double-leaf door in the south bay. This
entrance serves the north-south corridor that connects the east end of the auditorium/cafeteria
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wing to the 1960 classroom addition. A matching door pierces the north elevation at the
corridor’s end. The east elevation’s concrete-block north section is also blind.

Interior

The long north-south corridor at the auditorium/cafeteria wing’s east end intersects the 1960
classroom addition’s east-west corridor. As the addition is at a significantly lower elevation than
the earlier buildings, a long, straight run of wide steps with metal-pipe railings and a wheelchair
lift facilitate access. The addition has a double-loaded plan with four classrooms on the
corridor’s north side and three classrooms, a storage room, and a mechanical room to the south.

Simple finishes were specified to maximize durability. The corridors retain painted concrete-
block walls, beige square-glazed-ceramic-tile wainscot, and terrazzo floors. Classrooms have
painted concrete-block walls and vinyl-composition-tile floors. Commercial-grade carpeting has
been installed in some rooms. Doors with three-horizontal-pane upper sections hang in simple
steel frames. Each classroom features aluminum-trimmed blackboards and bulletin boards. Small
corner restrooms and long coat closets span an end wall. Low built-in units with wood shelves,
drawers, and a sink at the end closest to the restroom line one wall. Insulated panels sheathe the
ceilings. Linear fluorescent lighting and ceiling fans remain throughout.

Integrity Statement

The John Groom Elementary School possesses integrity of location, setting, feeling, association,
design, materials, and workmanship. The building displays character-defining elements of mid-
twentieth-century institutional architecture. The Colonial Revival-style 1949 and 1950 buildings
feature six-over-six double-hung wood sash, double-leaf wood doors, and common bond
redbrick walls. The school’s main entrance retains a wood surround with plain pilasters, a flat
frieze, and a triangular pediment. Grouped aluminum-frame multiple-pane windows illuminate
the 1960 classroom addition. The interior plan; original wall, ceiling, and floor finishes; and
doors, cabinets, closets, bookshelves, blackboards, bulletin boards, restrooms, and auditorium
stage are remarkably intact. The original windows are in good condition.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register

listing.)
X A.
B
X C.

Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

A.

B.

Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes
Removed from its original location

A birthplace or grave

. A cemetery

A reconstructed building, object, or structure
A commemorative property

Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years
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Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions.)
ARCHITECTURE

EDUCATION

ETHNIC HERITAGE: AFRICAN AMERICAN

Period of Significance
1949-1969

Significant Dates
1949
1950
1960

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)
N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Dixon and Norman (architects, 1949 school)
Binford, Walford, J. (architect, 1950 auditorium/cafeteria)

Mecklenburg County, VA

Mull, Otis Herman (builder, 1949-1950)
Burton-Hanlon Construction Company (builder, 1960)

Section 8 page 11

County and State



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
John Groom Elementary School Mecklenburg County, VA
Name of Property County and State

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any
applicable criteria considerations.)

The John Groom Elementary School is locally significant under Criterion A in the areas of
Education and Ethnic Heritage: African American and under Criterion C in the area of
Architecture. The building served as the only public elementary school for the municipality’s
African American youth from 1950 until 1969. Initially referred to as South Hill Negro
Elementary School, the Mecklenburg County School Board (MCSB) in June 1950 named the
campus in memory of John Groom, whose $10,000 bequest had subsidized a portion of the
auditorium/cafeteria’s construction. In addition to its primary function, the facility served as a
community meeting place. Upon the Mecklenburg County school system’s fall 1969 integration,
John Groom Elementary School became South Hill Primary School and housed first- through
third-grade pupils. Fourth- through seventh-grade students attended South Hill Elementary
School. John Groom Elementary School is the product of both legally required Jim Crow
segregation and a statewide mid-twentieth-century campus improvement campaign. The
classroom building competed in 1950 allowed for greatly increased enrollment capacity and
manifests the Virginia Department of Education’s initiative to supply students with spacious,
well-ventilated, and amply lit instructional areas. The building’s architectural character is
significant as it exemplifies Colonial Revival detailing applied to an institutional building, then-
current provisions for classroom education, and evolution to Modern design as had occurred
widely by the early 1960s. The Colonial Revival-style 1949 and 1950 buildings feature six-over-
six double-hung wood sash, double-leaf wood doors, and common bond redbrick walls. A wood
surround with plain pilasters, a flat frieze, and a triangular pediment ornaments the school’s main
entrance. The 1950 rear wing encompasses an auditorium that provided a much-needed venue to
hold academic and civic events as well as a cafeteria and kitchen that supplied separate, sanitary
food service facilities. The 1960 classroom wing displays Modernist tenets in its flat-roofed form
and double-loaded corridor plan lit by tall, rectangular, grouped, aluminum-frame, multipane
windows. John Groom Elementary School’s period of significance begins with the classroom
building’s 1950 completion and continues through the Mecklenburg County school system’s
1969 desegregation.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of
significance.)

African American Education Context and John Groom Elementary School Historical
Background

Virginia’s African American residents were afforded limited educational opportunities until the
late nineteenth century. Although legislators enacted laws forbidding African American
education in 1805, 1819, and 1831, religious groups including the Society of Friends, known as
Quakers, provided basic literacy lessons for free African Americans and enslaved people. In rare
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instances, free African American youth received instruction from tutors or attended private
subscription or boarding schools.!

African American tutelage thrived following Union military forces’ occupation in parts of
Virginia during the Civil War. Black educators established schools in Alexandria and Hampton
in 1861. Missionary and freedmen’s aid societies subsidized building construction and teacher
salaries throughout the state. After the war ended, the federal Freedmen’s Bureau, as part of its
agenda to implement Reconstruction policies, including universal access to quality academic
instruction, provided limited school organization assistance from 1865 until 1870.2

The Virginia General Assembly, mandated by the state’s 1869 constitution to provide free public
education for all children, enacted in July 1870 a uniform education law that established a
statewide school system headed by a superintendent of public instruction and state and county
boards of education. State funding based on population was not sufficient to cover costs,
requiring municipalities to assess supplementary taxes. The 1869 constitution mandated that
public schools be racially segregated, and black students typically received inferior buildings and
supplies, shorter terms, and fewer instructors.® Despite these challenges, African American
leaders promoted education as a means of realizing individual potential and strengthening
communities.

Virginia’s first state-subsidized public schools opened in November 1870. During the 1870-1871
term, the system served approximately twenty-four percent of the state’s black children and
almost thirty-eight percent of white youth. In Mecklenburg County, 1,366 African American and
757 white students enrolled in twenty black and twenty-two white public schools; the lopsided
ratio of students to the segregated schools was an early indicator of the unequal access to schools
afforded to African American children versus whites. However, only 782 African American and
476 white students regularly attended classes.* In most cases physical school locations have not
been determined.

Little is known about late-nineteenth- and early-twentieth century scholastic opportunities for
South Hill’s African American youth. In 1870-1871, seventy-six black and seventy-four white
children enrolled in two African American and two white public schools in the South Hill
District.> Thyne Institute, a private academy in Chase City, is better documented. The United
Presbyterian Church of America, under the auspices of its freedmen’s missions program, and
Chase City resident John Thyne paid for a building’s construction in 1878. Reverend J. Y.
Ashenhurst headed the school from its 1876 inception until 1880. Thyne Institute initially offered

! J. L. Blair Buck, The Development of Public Schools in Virginia, 1607-1952 (Richmond: State Board of
Education, 1952), 22-23; Ronald E. Butchart, “Freedmen's Education in Virginia, 1861-1870,” Encyclopedia
Virginia, Virginia Foundation for the Humanities, 2015, https://www.encyclopediavirginia.org (accessed May
2017).

2 Butchart, “Freedmen's Education in Virginia.”

3 Ibid.; Buck, The Development of Public Schools in Virginia, 65, 69-71.

4 State Board of Education, First Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1871
(Richmond: Superintendent of Public Printing, 1871), 165.

5 Ibid.

Section 8 page 13



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
John Groom Elementary School Mecklenburg County, VA
Name of Property County and State

academic and vocational classes only to day students, but erected cottages for boarders around
1884. Students interested in becoming teachers gained experience in Mecklenburg County’s
public schools, and beginning in 1890, at a model school on campus. Thyne Institute also hosted
educators for six-week summer training sessions.® Black children with lesser means sometimes
received academic instruction at churches.

During the twentieth century’s first decade, the general assembly designated capital for extensive
public school system improvements. As mandated by Virginia’s 1902 constitution, county
boards of education implemented more stringent teacher qualification and compulsory
attendance standards, undertook building renovation and construction, and consolidated smaller
schools. African American school appropriations declined after the constitution disenfranchised
black voters, perpetuating the problem of inadequate and overcrowded facilities.’

In 1909, Mecklenburg County’s school-age population numbered 8,575 children, 881 of whom
resided in the South Hill District. That fall, the MCSB approved a resolution to hire an African
American school supervisor. An $825 grant from the Jeanes Foundation (a Philadelphia-based
philanthropic organization created in 1907 to train black teachers and administrators) and a $375
school board allocation subsidized the salary of Presbyterian minister William H. Salley, who
began work in November 1909. Salley, an African American resident of Chase City, organized
school improvement leagues, established industrial training programs, and provided home
economics instruction.®

In December 1909, Mecklenburg County school superintendent John B. Terrell reported that two
schools for white students had recently been completed: a two-room building in Forksville and a
one-room building in Black Branch. He deemed the schools the county’s only up-to-date
structures. Most facilities were in need of replacement and without supplies such as charts, maps,
globes, and blackboards.’ The following year, South Hill’s white youth benefited from the
construction of a $10,000 school.'’

Terrell recognized the exemplary performance of African American educators such as Alice
Burks, who headed a South Hill District school. Other black teachers in the district included Eva
Smith and Annie Lambert. Although some faculty had advanced training, many had received
only rudimentary public instruction. This deficiency was apparent when less than ten percent of
African American applicants passed the county’s teacher certification examination in 1910. The
MCSB attempted to ameliorate this problem by appropriating $400 to hold a summer school for

¢ Larissa Smith, “Thyne Institute,” The Heritage of Mecklenburg County, Virginia, 1765-2006
(Waynesville, NC: County Heritage, 2006), 69.

7 Buck, The Development of Public Schools in Virginia, 126-139; Rand Dotson, “Progressive Movement in
Virginia,” Encyclopedia Virginia, Virginia Foundation for the Humanities, 2012,
https://www.encyclopediavirginia.org (accessed May 2017).

8§ MCSBMM, August 1909, p. 5; October 1909, pp. 9-10.

9 MCSBMM, December 1909, pp. 13-14.

10 Frank L. Nanney Jr., South Hill, Virginia: A Chronicle of the First 100 Years (South Hill: F. L. Nanney,

2001).
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current and prospective teachers and creating a manual training curriculum intended to increase
instructional quality.'!

The State Board of Education appointed Boydton attorney F. C. Redinger Mecklenburg County
school superintendent in September 1911. After attending a November meeting of the county’s
African American Teachers’ Association in Chase City, Redinger lauded the educators’
enthusiasm and performance, stating that the black organization was superior to that of white
teachers.!?

The earliest documented site of a twentieth-century public school for South Hill’s African
American children was True Reformer’s Hall, where first- through seventh-grade classes met for
several terms beginning in 1915. Community leaders including Reverend J. H. and Mary E.
Simmons, farmers Robert A. and Emma Walker, and entrepreneurs James E. and Elizabeth
Skipwith had orchestrated the school’s opening. Mary Simmons headed the school, instructing
approximately 130 pupils in two shifts.!

The South Hill school served only a small fraction of the county’s black youth. In 1915, 5,308
seven- to nineteen-year-old black and 4,144 white children resided in Mecklenburg County.
Although most enrolled in public schools, 89 African American females and 44 males and 45
white girls and 29 boys attended private schools. South Hill, the county’s third smallest district,
encompassed 477 black and 381 white school-age youth. W. H. Salley continued to supervise
Mecklenburg County’s African American schools through the 1910s.'*

Following the General Assembly’s passage of the Smith-Hughes Act, the State Board of
Education promoted vocational agriculture program development. Over the course of the 1917-
1918 term, Mecklenburg County’s African American industrial education supervisor, who
oversaw 48 schools with 66 teachers, conducted 193 campus visits. Chase City High School was
the only campus to provide secondary-level vocational agriculture classes. Homemakers clubs,
first organized in Mecklenburg County in 1913, provided 205 girls and 85 women at 16 locations
with the opportunity to learn food preservation skills during the summer of 1918. School
supporters established eight improvement leagues to fund building maintenance and furnishing,
book and equipment purchase, grounds beautification, and to cover disparities in salaries paid to
African American teachers versus whites. !>

The South Hill District’s 1919-1920 budget included salaries for seven black teachers and $1,500
to allow for the construction of an African American school in South Hill. The municipality’s

" MCSBMM, February 1910, pp. 17-18; May 1910, p. 26; November 1910, p. 36.

12 MCSBMM, October 1911, p. 45; November 1911, p. 47.

13 Archie G. Richardson, The Development of Negro Education in Virginia, 1831-1970 (Richmond,
Virginia: Richmond Chapter Phi Delta Kappa, 1976), 29; U. S. Census, population schedules, 1900-1940.

14 “Superintendent’s Summary of School Census Returns, 1915, Mecklenburg County,” loose document in
MCSBMM book; MCSBMM, August 14, 1915; July 31, 1916.

15 Formal organization of the county’s school improvement leagues began around 1909. MCSBMM,
August 1, 1909; State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1917-18
(Richmond: Superintendent of Public Printing, 1919), 48-61.
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black residents used their own private funds to purchase the lot upon which the building was
erected and contributed $1,000 of the cost; such subsidies were routinely provided by African
American communities to maximize educational opportunities for their children. Prior to the
school’s completion, ninety-six African American children had studied in an “old store house”
measuring approximately twenty-by-thirty feet. The district had been leasing the building, and
was not sure that it would be available for the upcoming term. Whittle’s Mill’s African American
community also needed a school, as fifty-five students met in a church that required repair. Most
of the district’s African American schools operated for six-month terms, although those in Chase
City, South Hill, and Buckhorn and Palmer Springs Districts were open for an additional month.
African American school supervisor Matilda M. Booker coordinated the county’s industrial
training program.'®

In order to subsidize school construction, county boards of education requested financing from
the State Literary Fund. The Virginia Board of Education developed standard plans and
specifications for school buildings to reduce cost and ensure an optimal learning environment.
The MCSB initiated numerous projects during the 1920s. The board allocated $7,500 for
LaCrosse High School in 1923. The following year, the Boydton School District erected a
$2,800 Boydton High School addition, a $1,800 school in Shiloah, and new buildings in Phillis,
Easter, and Loves. The MCSB also appropriated $1,200 for Bracey School’s expansion and
$4,800 for an African American training school. Mecklenburg County’s African American
residents had regularly petitioned for such a campus. By 1920, twenty-three Virginia counties
operated African American training schools, intended to prepare youth for vocations as service
workers in the industrial, agricultural, and domestic labor sectors. All provided at least two
grades of high school courses. Even in the early 1920s, this was not sufficient for students to
earn a full high school diploma at graduation; especially talented or fortunate students might
finish their high school education elsewhere through scholarships or living with extended family
members in locales with four-year high schools. In order to improve conditions for South Hill’s
black students until a training school could be erected, the board authorized an addition to the
community’s existing African American school in 1924."

The Rosenwald Fund, a private organization devoted to improving educational venues for
southern African American children, provided critical assistance to Mecklenburg County’s
school construction initiative. The fund, in collaboration with local and state boards of education
and private citizens, facilitated the completion of 382 Virginia buildings, including schools,
teachers’ residences, and industrial education shops, between 1917 and 1932.'% As Mecklenburg
County school administrators sought to construct new buildings—most of which were one-story
and weatherboarded—for African American students, they solicited subsidies from the fund as
well as donations from community residents. Rosenwald, state, and local contributions enabled

16 MCSBMM, March 22, 1919; Richardson, The Development of Negro Education in Virginia, 30.

17 MCSBMM, February 23, 1923, p. 64; August 21, 1923, p. 73; February 11, 1924, p. 82; July 14, 1924, p.
97, State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1920-21 (Richmond:
Superintendent of Public Printing, 1922), 72.

18 Phyllis McClure, “Rosenwald Schools.” Encyclopedia Virginia, Virginia Foundation for the Humanities,
2012, http://www.EncyclopediaVirginia.org/Rosenwald Schools (accessed May 2017).
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the construction of seventeen Mecklenburg County educational buildings: Finchley (construction
date unknown), Love (1924), North View (1924), Plank Road (1924), Shiloh (1924),
Mecklenburg County Training School (1925) and Shop (1927), Whittle’s Grove (1925),
Roanoke (1926), Rocky Mount (1926), Piney Grove (1926), Finneywood (1926), Bracey (1927),
Cotton Creek (1927), St. Johns (1927), Black Ridge (1929), and Cook (1929). None are extant.
The Rosenwald Fund also subsidized the salary of a second Mecklenburg County African
American school supervisor, Nannie Virginia Boyd."

In 1925, the MCSB appointed South Hill District trustee J. H. Wall Jr. to initiate planning efforts
for an African American training school. That June, the MCSB directed him to commence
constructing that building as well as a two-teacher school in Whittle’s Grove. The one-story, six
classroom, weatherboarded, H-plan, $9,875 training school was the product of public-private
partnerships. Black citizens contributed $3,250, the Rosenwald Fund supplied $1,500, and state
and county boards of education and other donors subsidized $5,125 of the project’s overall cost.
The African American community’s goal was finally realized upon the training school’s October
19, 1925, opening. Conaway B. Hoskins and five other teachers instructed approximately two
hundred first- through seventh-grade youth. In November, Wall prepared to sell the vacant three-
room school that had previously housed South Hill’s black students.*

Lexington, Virginia, native Archie Gibbs Richardson graduated from Virginia Normal and
Industrial Institute at Petersburg in June 1927 and began his seven-year tenure as the South Hill
training school’s principal in the fall of that year.?! Facility improvements that year included the
construction of a two-room $1,500 shop funded by $200 of donations from African American
supporters, a $400 Rosenwald grant, and a $900 local government appropriation.?? The campus
was initially referred to as the county training school in South Hill, but soon became known as
Mecklenburg County Training School (MCTS).

Continuing disparities in allocation of taxpayer funds required the county’s African American
residents to continue advocating for more equitable accommodations for black students. The
MCSB declined to implement the 1922 County Unit Law that mandated nondiscriminatory
school operation. In 1929, the State Board of Education appropriated equalization funds and
delineated distribution based upon average daily attendance rather than census statistics, which

19 “Mecklenburg County Schools,” Fisk University Rosenwald Fund Card File Database and Photograph
Collection, Julius Rosenwald Fund Archives, 1917-1948, John Hope and Aurelia E. Franklin Library, Special
Collections, Fisk University, http://rosenwald.fisk.edu (accessed May 2017); MCSBMM, April 10, 1924, p. 88;
September 8, 1924; May 9, 1925; June 11, 1925; August 9, 1926;

20 “County Training at South Hill,” Fisk University Rosenwald Fund Card File Database; MCSBMM,
March 16, 1925; June 8, 1925; August 14, 1925; November 9, 1925; Richardson, The Development of Negro
Education in Virginia, 31.

21 Richardson (1904-subsequently served as the academics director at the private Saint Paul Normal School
in Lawrenceville, Virginia. He then functioned as the Virginia Department of Public Instruction’s Assistant
Supervisor of Negro Education (1936-1951), Associate Supervisor of Elementary and Secondary Education (1951-
1966), and Associate Director of the Division of Secondary Education (1966-1969). “A Guide to the Papers of
Archie G. Richardson ,1918-1976,” Special Collections and Archives, Johnston Memorial Library, Virginia State
University, Petersburg, Virginia.

22 “County Training at South Hill,” Fisk University Rosenwald Fund Card File Database.
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was significant as there was typically a disparity between enrollment and attendance. For
example, during 1929-1930 the Mecklenburg County school system enrolled 5,167 African
American and 3,811 white youth in eight districts, but only 3,332 black and 3,013 white students
regularly attended classes. Six of the county’s white high schools were accredited and provided a
four-year course of study. Meanwhile, the Department of Education’s Division of Negro
Education supervisor W. D. Gresham reported that while twenty-five of the state’s fifty African
American training schools offered four high school grades, only six were accredited. MCTS, the
only school offering high school level courses in Mecklenburg County, was not among them.?

The economic challenges that ensued from the Great Depression limited Mecklenburg County
campus improvements during the 1930s. However, the MCSB was able to replace South Hill’s
school for white elementary students after an April 1932 fire destroyed the building. A two-story,
brick, hip-roofed, ten-classroom edifice was completed in October 1932 .24

In an attempt to ameliorate budget shortfalls, the MCSB sought funding from the Federal
Emergency Relief Administration (FERA), a New Deal program created in 1933. FERA
collaborated with state relief agencies to fund building construction and maintenance,
landscaping, and support staff salaries. From November 1933 through March 1944, FERA
implemented a temporary initiative, the Civil Works Administration (CWA), which provided
jobs to millions of unemployed citizens.?®

In December 1933, the MCSB applied for a $10,500 CWA grant to erect six classrooms,
restrooms, and an auditorium on the existing Clarksville School campus. The board also
requested a $24,500 appropriation from the State Literary Fund for this purpose. Architect
Raymond V. Long designed the school erected by J. H. Bennett, Inc. The CWA agreed to supply
labor and most of the materials required to install a heating system in LaCrosse High School in
March 1934. The agency offered to erect a four-room expansion at MCTS if the African
American community contributed $1,000 of the building material cost. However, the MCSB had
to pursue other revenue to undertake the work after the CWA’s discontinuance. A $1,000 grant
was obtained from the Jeanes-Slater Fund, but as it would be paid in $500 installments on July 1,
1935 and 1936, local financing was required to execute the project. Matilda Booker and Nannie
Boyd lead the MCTS fundraising campaign. In addition to their other duties, the women
facilitated CWA project completion throughout the county during the summer of 1934. In
December, the MCSB hired L. C. Browning to supervise the training school addition’s
construction.*®

The federal Works Progress Administration (WPA), which replaced FERA in 1935, also
provided assistance in Mecklenburg County. As part of its mission to provide unemployed

2 MCSBMM, April 6, 1926; April 12, 1926; State Board of Education, Annual Report of the
Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1929-30 (Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1930), 15-16, 38, 69,
126.

24 Nanney, South Hill, 79.

25 John P. Deeben, “Family Experiences and New Deal Relief,” Prologue, Vol. 44, No. 2, Fall 2012.

26 MCSBMM, December 4, 1933; March 12, 1934; June 11, 1934; December 10, 1934; February 11, 1935.
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citizens with meaningful jobs, the WPA supplied grants for school renovation and construction
as well as lunch room operation. The program sponsored adult academic instruction and
vocational training, most of which took place at public schools in the afternoons and evenings. In
Mecklenburg County, 398 men and women ranging in age from sixteen to eighty-three enrolled
in classes at twelve campuses including MCTS in January and February 1935. Parent-Teacher
Associations (PTA) collaborated with the WPA to plant school gardens that yielded fruit and
vegetables canned by participants for use in the free meals supplied by the WPA- and PTA-
sponsored lunch rooms. The National Youth Administration, a WPA agency that executed
projects with student labor, undertook the creation of Mecklenburg County school gardens
utilizing donated seeds and other materials. In September 1939, the MCSB allocated $250
toward the construction cost of an addition to the MCTS shop. The NY A salvaged building
materials during Blackridge School’s demolition to erect much of the addition.?’

MCTS attained high school accreditation by 1935. During the 1935-1936 term, four teachers
instructed 225 first- through seventh-grade students and four educators taught 214 eighth-
through eleventh-grade pupils. Twenty-four youth graduated from high school in spring 1936.
Mecklenburg County school attendance averaged 3,408 African American and 3,076 white
children. The county school superintendent reported an increase in overall county attendance by
1940 to 3,753 black and 3,277 white youth. At MCTS, seven high school and five elementary
school faculty members educated 202 high school and 203 elementary school students.?®

As World War II escalated in the early 1940s, South Hill students were impacted by austerity
measures and two significant fires. LaCrosse High School was heavily damaged by an April
1942 fire, and students attended South Hill School until LaCrosse’s repairs were completed in
November. On December 22, 1942, a fire quickly destroyed the weatherboarded MCTS. Long-
time African American educator Lucille Hudson remembered that classes met in several small,
frame, temporary buildings erected on the MCTS campus. The MCSB also leased several
properties including a building owned by M. E. Brown to house students.?’

Mecklenburg County’s African American teachers regularly petitioned the MCSB to equalize
black and white teacher and principal salaries. Beginning in 1941, African American educators
received gradual raises based upon scholastic achievement. In 1943-1944, teachers with
collegiate certificates received $2 adjustments in monthly salary, while normal professional
certificate holders’ salaries increased by $3 each month. Matilda Booker and Nannie Boyd, the
county’s African American school supervisors, received $1,560 salaries for that term.*°

Federal assistance continued through the mid-1940s. The MCSB was reimbursed for expenses

27 MCSBMM, “Report of Adult Classes,” June 1935; September 11, 1939; May 12, 1941.

28 State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1935-36
(Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1936), 42-43, 127; State Board of Education, Annual Report of the
Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1939-40 (Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1940), 50-51, 244-
245.

2 Nanney, South Hill, 106; MCSBMM, August 9, 1943; Lucille Hudson, telephone conversation with
Heather Fearnbach, May 22, 2017.

30 MCSBMM, January 13, 1941, p. 299; December 14, 1942; May 10, 1943; June 14, 1943.
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related to national defense support initiatives such as educational programs in Clarksville and
South Hill that were attended by Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) camp residents.
Mecklenburg County provided teachers, administrative assistants, janitors, and supplies. The
State Board of Education and the MCSB subsidized the construction of community canneries at
MCTS and Buckhorn High School in spring 1944. Although school supporters were typically
required to make donations to cover some of the project cost, the MCSB used a portion of the
insurance money received after the MCTS fire to fund the cannery on that campus. The
Department of Agriculture’s War Food Administration subsidized lunch room operation at
twenty-two county schools in 1944-1945 3!

MCTS students continued to endure substandard and overcrowded conditions. African American
community members frequently attended MCSB meetings to advocate for the construction of
replacement buildings. After analyzing the situation and exploring possible locations for a new
school, Virginia State Department of Education’s School Buildings Division director W. Irving
Dixon recommended that MCTS remain in South Hill. The board appointed a committee headed
by F. L. Nanney, C. D. Jones, and the county school superintendent to orchestrate the planning
effort. In 1946, the group suggested three possible sites for the new school: a twenty-acre tract
near Simmon’s Terminal on Route 1 owned by J. C. Clemmons, twenty acres of Fred Watkins’s
property close to the grist mill, or the existing MCTS campus.*

Despite this momentum, building material and labor shortages persisted after World War II,
impeding construction project progress. In September 1947, voters finally approved the issuance
of a $350,000 school bond that began to address county-wide deficiencies. In addition to a new
eight-classroom building to serve South Hill’s African American elementary-grade youth, the
proposed scope of work included four classrooms and a 450-seat auditorium at LaCrosse High
School, two classrooms and a five-hundred-seat auditorium at Boydton High School, a home
economics building at Buckhorn High School, plumbing and heating system installation at
Clarksville High School, and repairs at Thyne Institute. Regarding South Hill, the bond
justification letter stated that classes for the primary grades displaced by the 1942 fire that
destroyed MCTS were being held in a rented dwelling that was “both unsanitary and dangerous.”
Although a new structure was also desperately needed to house MCTS’s approximately two
hundred high school students, the bond would not provide for its construction.*?

Richmond architects Dixon and Norman, represented by W. Irving Dixon, designed the schools
financed by the 1947 bond. The MCSB approved preliminary drawings for the South Hill and
LaCrosse projects in April 1948 and awarded both construction contracts to Chase City general
contractor Otis Herman Mull the following month. Mull’s crew began work after the MCSB

31 The MCTS cannery was only used as such for four years before being repurposed by the school.
MCSBMM, “National Defense Bills,” June 1941; March 13, 1944; July 10, 1944; April 5, 1945, p. 33; “Report of
WFA School Lunch Program,” October 1944; May 3, 1948.

32 MCSBMM, March 5, 1945, p. 7; April 5, 1945, p. 33; May 7, 1945, p. 129; September 3, 1945; January
9, 1946; February 4, 1946; March 4, 1946, p. 89.

33 Mecklenburg County School Board Meeting Minutes (MCSBMM), May 5, 1947, p. 23; “To the voters of
Mecklenburg County,” September 1, 1947; April 5, 1948; State Board of Education, Annual Report of the
Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1945-46 (Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1946), 51.
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purchased the tract upon which South Hill’s African American elementary school would be
located from Fred Watkins for $5,000. Mull’s subcontractors at South Hill included Thomasson
Plumbing and Heating Company. The building was substantially complete in April 1949, when
the MCSB affirmed that the school would serve only elementary grades.>

In August 1949, the MCSB approved the proposed expansion of the newly completed elementary
school with a $30,000 auditorium and cafeteria wing. Project financing would comprise the
remaining balance of the bond issue appropriation, a loan, and $10,000 that had been bequeathed
to the MCSB by John Groom to improve facilities for the community’s black children. Although
Dixon and Norman presented a preliminary floor plan, the addition was not erected per their
drawing. Richmond architect J. Binford Walford designed the auditorium and cafeteria.®

Esteemed educator Mamie Venable, a Thyne Institute graduate, became Groom Elementary
School’s first principal in 1949. The MCBE employed three other African American high school
principals at that time: Emmett Nelson Taliaferro at Thyne Institute, George Wood at West End
High School, and T. E. Green at MCTS.*

The LaCrosse High School addition was dedicated on February 3, 1950. The following week, the
MCSB approved O. H. Mull’s final payments for that project and South Hill’s African American
elementary school. On June 5, the elementary school was officially named in memory of John
Groom, whose generous bequest had subsidized a portion of its construction.’

The campaign to improve facilities and alleviate overcrowding on all Mecklenburg County
campuses continued as the MCSB utilized a $4,500,000 bond that funded school construction
through 1954. The appropriation allowed for improvements at fifteen schools including MCTS,
which would be replaced at an estimated cost of $500,000. The board debated the overall scope
of work for over a year prior to bond issuance.*®

As new building planning accelerated in the early 1950s, the MCSB engaged Richmond architect

3#0. H. Mull (1893-1962) was originally awarded a contract for all six of the 1947 bond projects, but was
not able to manage them concurrently. C. M. Buchanan executed the remaining four. The MCSB paid Mull $8,500
for his work at Groom School and LaCrosse High School. “School Building Program to Start,” South Hill
Enterprise, April 8, 1948, p. 1; MCSBMM, April 5, 1948; May 3, 1948; February 9, 1949; April 4, 1949; February
8, 1950.

35 Mempbhis, Tennessee, native John Groom, born October 10, 1889, died on November 27, 1944, and is
interred in West View Cemetery in South Hill. He was a hotel porter in South Hill at the time of his death.
MCSBMM, August 1, 1949, August 29, 1949; “John Groom,” Certificate of Death, Commonwealth of Virginia
Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics.

36 The MCSB acquired Thyne Institute in spring 1946 and appointed Taliaferro, the school’s first African
American principal, that fall. Venable remained at Groom Elementary School until her 1964 retirement. MCSBMM,
November 3, 1947; Ernestine W. Spain, “Brief History of Thyne Institute 1876-1953,” The Heritage of Mecklenburg
County, Virginia, 1765-2006 (Waynesville, NC: County Heritage, 2006), 69; Nanney, South Hill, 100-101.

37 “LaCrosse High School has Formal Opening,” SHE, February 9, 1950, p. 2; MCSBMM, February 8,
1950; June 5, 1950.

3 MCSBMM, June 6, 1949; October 3, 1949; July 10, 1950; “School Program Described to P. T. A. by
Superintendent,” SHE, November 23, 1950, p. 1.
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Samuel Nicholson Mayo to provide project estimation and drawing execution services. In 1951,
Mayo designed an African American elementary school to be erected on Highway 58 west of
Boydton as well as two African American high schools and shop buildings. West End High
School in Clarksville would replace a 1935 school that had burned in fall 1951. East End High
School would finally provide South Hill’s black teenagers with the new building needed since
MCTS’s 1925 building was destroyed by a 1942 fire. Central Elementary School in Boydton was
finished by September 1952, when the MCSB awarded Mottley Construction Company of
Farmville contracts to erect the high schools. East End and West End high schools were placed
into service in September 1953. Seventh grade classes previously housed at Groom and West
End Elementary Schools were then moved to East End and West End high schools. The MCTS
campus was vacated.>

The MCSB renewed S. N. Mayo’s contract to serve as the county’s on-call architect in 1953 and
delineated the scope of work for the next batch of projects. However, Mecklenburg County
voters did not approve the issuance of $1,300,000-worth of school bonds until September 1954,
and that amount comprised only about half of the projected $2,721,400 building expense. White
high schools would be erected in South Hill and Skipwith, two African American elementary
schools—Groom and Central—would receive additions, and new African American elementary
schools would be constructed in Clarksville, LaCrosse, Palmer Springs, and Thyne. Minor
projects undertaken at John Groom Elementary School in 1954 included $1,265-worth of
playground improvements and the installation of a sewage disposal system.*°

In September 1954, a delegation of African American residents petitioned the MCSB to provide
bus service from South Hill to John Groom Elementary School, as the lack of sidewalks forced
students to walk in the road. Bus transportation for white students, however, was widely
available. The school system superintendent asked town and State Highway Department
administrators to facilitate sidewalk construction. Discussion continued through 1955, but
sidewalks were never built. The campus did receive minor updates such as the boys’ restroom
remodeling in summer 1955.4!

Virginia campuses remained segregated despite the U. S. Supreme Court’s 1954 mandate for
school integration in its Brown v. Board of Education decision. The General Assembly
responded with the passage of the 1956 Stanley Plan, which afforded local school districts
complete latitude in delineating student placement; thus perpetuating racially based school
assignments. Politicians dubbed this effort to oppose desegregation “massive resistance.”
African American parents who attempted to enroll their children in white schools endured

3 MCSBMM, February 5, 1951, p. 31; March 5, 1951, p. 39; June 28, 1951, pp.77, 79; September 17,
1952, p. 29; May 11, 1953, p. 119; July 13, 1953, p. 139; James N. Sheppard, “West End High School,” Land By the
Rivers, January 20, 1999.

40 MCSBMM, February 25, 1953, p. 93; November 1953, p. 209; “Survey of School Building Needs,” May
14, 1954; July 27, 1954, p. 11; September 13, 1954, p. 34; September 20, 1954, p. 55; Samuel N. Mayo, “Sewage
Disposal Facilities,” July 21, 1954.

4 MCSBMM, September 20, 1954, p. 55; November 8, 1954, p. 59; July 11, 1955, p. 147.
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harassment, and many filed lawsuits when their concerns were not addressed.*?

Following a series of fall 1958 school closings in order to avoid integration, federal and state
courts intervened with January 19, 1959, rulings that deemed the closures unconstitutional.
Consequently, four African American students enrolled in white Arlington County schools and
seventeen black youth desegregated Norfolk schools on February 2 that year. The state
legislature rejoined in April with the Perrow Plan, which ostensibly allowed parents to choose
which schools their children would attend, but effectively maintained segregated school
systems.*?

Mecklenburg County continued to “equalize” schools through new construction. Enrollment at
John Groom Elementary School far exceeded capacity by January 1959, when discussion of a
classroom addition resumed. In February, S. N. Mayo presented plans for a seven-classroom
wing, alterations to the cafeteria serving line, and installation of a dropped ceiling and a new
floor in the auditorium/cafeteria. The addition would increase overall capacity to 450 students.
Contractor bids surpassed the $120,000 budget, requiring an additional loan from the State
Literary Fund to cover projected construction cost and design fees totaling $137,500. The MCSB
estimated that additional expenses would include $22,000-worth of equipment and $1,000 for
land acquisition. Burton-Hanlon Construction Company was awarded a contract for additions to
John Groom Elementary School, Bluestone High School, and East End High School in July and
commenced work soon after. All projects were completed within budget in April 1960. While
those projects were underway, the MCSB and S. N. Mayo planned the construction of a new
African American elementary school near Clarksville. The board adopted the name “Hillcrest”
for that campus in June 1960.%

Mecklenburg County’s public schools served a large population in 1960-1961, when attendance
averaged 4,685 African American and 3,588 white youth. The MCSB employed 172 black
educators (107 elementary and 65 high school) and 159 white teachers (94 elementary and 65
high school).* The much higher student to teach ratio for black students reflected continuing
inequities in funding and facilities for African American children despite some recent gains
made by the civil rights movement.

Although the Civil Rights Act of 1964 mandated school integration as a prerequisite for federal
funding eligibility, little progress was made in Virginia until 1968, when the U.S. Supreme Court
rejected “freedom of choice” policies as a means of achieving desegregation in Green et al. v.
County School Board of New Kent County, Virginia.*® On July 10, 1968, the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia determined that the freedom of choice plan

42 James H. Hershman Jr., “Massive Resistance,” Encyclopedia Virginia, Virginia Foundation for the
Humanities, 2011, https://www.encyclopediavirginia.org (accessed May 2017).

4 Ibid.

4 MCSBMM, January 12, 1959; February 9, 1959; April 13, 1959; July 24, 1959; September 1, 1959;
January 29, 1960; April 7, 1960; May 1, 1960; June 13, 1960.

4 State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1960-61
(Richmond: State Board of Education, 1961), 292, 376-377.

46 Hershman, “Massive Resistance.”
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under which the MCSB was operating did not meet the requirement of racially-balanced school
assignments set forth in the New Kent decision. The MCSB asserted that complete reorganization
of the school system was necessary in order to achieve compliance. Due to the fact that student
assignments had already been made for the 1968-1969 term, the MCSB did not fully integrate
the county’s school system until fall 1969. At that time, John Groom Elementary School became
South Hill Primary School, headed by principal James E. Harris, and housed first- through third-
grade pupils. Fourth- through seventh-grade students attended South Hill Elementary School. In
preparation for the transition, S. N. Mayo planned modifications to educational buildings
throughout the county including alterations to South Hill Primary School’s cafeteria serving area,
pantry, and a faculty restroom.*’

Architecture Context: Mid-twentieth-century Educational Buildings

In 1946, the Virginia Department of Education reported that the residual effects of World War II
had resulted in a one-hundred-percent increase in school construction cost since 1940. Sharp
inflation and building material and labor shortages resulting from dramatic increases in housing
and commercial construction demand fueled the escalated expense. The agency thus encouraged
counties to delay all but the most critical building projects.*® However, as soon as the economy
stabilized, the General Assembly authorized a series of multi-million-dollar appropriations to
Virginia’s Literary Fund to subsidize the construction of “equalization” schools. These projects
were intended to validate the state’s “separate but equal” policy by providing campuses, although
racially segregated, that had comparable modern, safe, and hygienic facilities; reality, however,
fell far short of the stated goal.*’

Mecklenburg County’s agenda for system-wide campus improvements from the late 1940s
through the 1960s included demolishing many early-twentieth-century educational buildings,
constructing new schools, and renovating and expanding existing buildings. Classrooms,
cafeterias, auditoriums, and vocational buildings were erected to remedy overcrowded conditions
and replace inadequate structures. Improvements were typically executed in phases. In order to
ensure the most efficient and economical approach, the Department of Education’s School
Buildings Service issued planning manuals, provided guidance during the design development
process, and reviewed all drawings and specifications.

Late 1940s Virginia educational buildings were often executed in the Colonial, Georgian, and
Classical Revival styles, perpetuating an early-twentieth-century practice. Ancient Grecian and
Roman edifices served as the archetypes for overall composition and ornament, as architects
drew from classical precedents in an effort to embody democracy, permanence, and refinement.
Simple Colonial Revival elements distinguish edifices such as John Groom Elementary School,

47 A contingent of African American residents had petitioned the MCSB to retain the names of schools that
honored significant individuals, but the board deemed geographical nomenclature to be most appropriate.
MCSBMM, August 6, 1968, pp. 5-6; March 1969, p. 53; April 24, 1969, p. 58; June 23, 1969.

48 State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1945-46
(Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1946), 173.

4 Hershman, “Massive Resistance.”
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manifesting the era’s austerity. Richard Guy Wilson defined the Colonial Revival as “the United
States most popular and characteristic expression. Neither a formal style or a movement,
Colonial Revival embodies an attitude that looks to the American past for inspiration and selects
forms, motifs, and symbols for replication and reuse.” Colonial Revival schools feature
symmetrical facades, large multipane windows, and classical embellishment.

John Groom Elementary School architects W. Irving Dixon and Macon G. Norman were well-
versed in educational building design as they had both been employed by the School Buildings
Service. The 1949 school is characterized by common bond redbrick walls, symmetrical
massing, six-over-six double-hung wood sash, and double-leaf wood doors. A wood surround
with plain pilasters, a flat frieze, and a triangular pediment adorns the main entrance. The interior
plan; original wall, ceiling, and floor finishes; and doors, cabinets, closets, bookshelves,
blackboards, bulletin boards, and restrooms are remarkably intact. The building allowed for
greatly increased enrollment capacity and manifests the Department of Education’s initiative to
supply students with spacious, well-ventilated, and amply lit instructional areas.

J. Binford Walford, another Richmond architect with prodigious school design experience,
emulated the 1949 school’s brick veneer, windows, and doors in his plan for the 1950 addition,
which encompasses an auditorium that provided a much-needed venue to hold academic and
civic events as well as a cafeteria and kitchen that supplied separate, sanitary food service
facilities.’! As the large open west room served dual purposes, it did not have fixed seating. The
hardwood-floored stage spans the entire west wall.

Dixon and Norman’s other Mecklenburg County commissions include the 1948 building on the
Boydton High School campus (NRHP, Boydton Historic District 2002), which occupies a lot
bounded by School, Madison, and Jefferson streets. Contractor C. M. Buchanan erected the one-
story hip-roofed 1948 building containing two classrooms and a five-hundred-seat auditorium.
The classical pedimented entrance surround, raised-six-panel front doors topped with a fretwork
transom, four gabled dormers, and an octagonal cupola are intact. Masons executed the redbrick
veneer in a distinctive common bond with five courses of stretchers followed by a course of
alternating stretchers and headers. Bracketed shed canopies shelter the original double-leaf
paneled and glazed wood doors and six-pane transoms on the main block’s north and south
elevations. Tall twelve-over-twelve double-hung wood sash illuminate the interior. A standing-
seam metal roof has been recently installed. The site also encompasses the town’s circa 1880 and
1913 public schools for white children.

Dixon and Norman’s comparable projects elsewhere in Virginia include John D. Bassett High
School (NRHP 2006), erected in 1948. Although the two-story redbrick Georgian Revival-style
edifice is more sizable and elaborately executed than John Groom Elementary School, it is also
characterized by large double-hung multipane windows and a double-loaded corridor plan. Two

0 Richard Guy Wilson, The Colonial Revival House (New York: Harry N. Abrams, Inc., 2004), 6.

5! John Groom Elementary School’s auditorium/cafeteria wing was one of ninety-eight projects approved
by the Department of Education during the 1949-1950 term. State Board of Education, Annual Report of the
Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1949-50 (Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1950), 168-169.
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full-height pedimented tetrastyle porticos shelter entrances at either end of the facade. Two
octagonal cupolas and four gabled dormers pierce the slate roof.>> Within only a few years, in
response to increased building material cost and reduced funding, Dixon and Norman’s designs
were streamlined and modern, as manifested at Hayden High School (NRHP 2013), constructed
in 1953 to serve the City of Franklin’s African American students. The two-story, flat-roofed,
redbrick edifice is lit by five-pane aluminum-frame jalousie windows.>

Modernism dominated mid-twentieth-century educational architecture as architects and
engineers employed materials such as masonry, glass, aluminum, and steel in pioneering ways
that broke with tradition and evoked the era’s progressive mindset. Innovative design precepts
enhanced connectivity between interior and exterior spaces. Architecture critic Lewis Mumford
approved of Modernist campus design, characterizing the period’s educational buildings as
“schools for human beings,” a complete departure from the 1930s schools he deemed “self-
important WPA barracks.”>* The Modern movement was slow to gain widespread acceptance in
Virginia, despite the fact that those involved in the building trades promoted the style as an
economical, up-to-date alternative to period revival architecture. However, the Department of
Education embraced Modernism during the 1950s, revising its building planning manuals to
encourage design devoid of expensive “extraneous” ornament.>

Richmond architect Samuel Nicholson Mayo rendered plans for most of Mecklenburg County’s
educational buildings erected in the 1950s and 1960s. The schools and additions completed at
that time have austere, brick-veneered, flat-roofed forms illuminated by bands of large steel- or
aluminum-framed windows. The floor plans are efficiently arranged, usually around double-
loaded corridors in order to take full advantage of natural light and air circulation. Auditoriums
and gymnasiums are similarly streamlined and often flat roofed, although in some cases arched
roofs add interest. Steel trusses allow for wide, open interior spaces.

Mayo’s design for John Groom Elementary School’s one-story flat-roofed redbrick classroom
addition is an excellent example of mid-twentieth-century educational architecture. The double-
loaded corridor plan is typical, as are the tall, rectangular, grouped, aluminum-frame, multipane
windows that light classrooms. The utilitarian finishes are resilient: concrete-block walls, glazed
ceramic tile wainscoting, vinyl-composition-tile floors, insulated-panel ceilings, and metal-
framed steel doors.

32 Alison Stone Blanton, “John D. Bassett High School,” National Register of Historic Places nomination,
2006.

53 Marcus Pollard, “Hayden High School,” National Register of Historic Places nomination, 2013.

5% Crow Island School, erected in Winnetka, Illinois, in 1939-1940, is widely regarded as being the first
public campus to use Modernist design principles to embody progressive education philosophies. Janice E.
Tubergen, “Crow Island School, Winnetka, Illinois,” National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1989, 7.2-3, 8.2, 6-9;
Carole Rifkind, A Field Guide to Contemporary American Architecture (New York, Penguin Putnam, Inc., 1998),
230.

35 State Board of Education, Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, 1949-50
(Richmond: Division of Purchase and Printing, 1950), 168 State Board of Education, State Planning Manuel, vol.
37,n0.7,1954,p. 11.
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Mayo also provided drawings for the one-story, flat-roofed, Modernist, redbrick building erected
west of Boydton at 175 Mayfield Drive in 1952 to serve as the community’s African American
elementary school. Classrooms flank the intersecting central corridors. Mayo specified functional
and durable interior finishes similar to those at John Groom Elementary School as well as large
aluminum-frame windows. The school was enlarged several times and now functions as MCPS’s
central office. Mayo’s design for the 1953 addition to the ca. 1932, whites-only South Hill High
and Grammar School (NRHP, South Hill Commercial Historic District 2017) at 303 Franklin
Street has a two-story main block, but is otherwise comparable, featuring running bond redbrick
veneer and groups of six-horizontal-pane aluminum-frame sash with concrete sills. The Mayo-
designed West End High School (1953) in Clarksville and East End High School (1953) in South
Hill were executed in the same manner and remain in use by the school system. West End is now
Bluestone Middle School and East End serves as Park View Middle School.*®

The school system currently operates eight campuses. Mecklenburg County’s mid-twentieth-
century schools have not been included in architectural surveys and the status of other schools
has not been determined. Mecklenburg County Public School staff indicate that many
educational buildings have been adaptively reused after being sold to private owners.>’

Architects
Washington Irving Dixon (November 15, 1899 - March 27, 1985)

Port Norfolk, Virginia, native W. Irving Dixon received a bachelor’s degree in architecture from
the University of Virginia in Charlottesville in May 1923. He established a private practice in
Williamsburg and taught architecture and applied arts at the College of William and Mary until
1925. That year, he obtained a draftsman position in the Virginia State Department of
Education’s School Buildings Division. Dixon achieved junior draftsman status in 1928 and
served as a senior draftsman from 1932 until 1934. He subsequently inspected the department’s
construction projects and authored building specifications. Dixon then became the division’s
assistant director and its director. He successfully applied for membership in the American
Institute of Architects in 1944,

Dixon and his colleague Macon G. Norman partnered to create an independent architecture
practice in 1946. The men capitalized on their lengthy tenures at the School Buildings Division
by specializing in educational commissions. Significant Virginia projects planned between 1946
and 1954 included Colonial Heights High School, John D. Bassett High School in Bassett,
Hayden High School in Franklin, Martinsville High School, Oak Street School in Falls Church,
Mary N. Smith High School in Accomack County, Robert R. Moton High School in Prince

6 Ann Garnett Miller, “Recounting the proud heritage of black education in Mecklenburg County,”
February 22, 2012, SoVaNow.com (accessed in May 2017).

57 Paula Giammatteo, Executive Secretary to the Superintendent and School Board Clerk, Mecklenburg
County Public Schools, conversations and email correspondence with Heather Fearnbach, May and June 2017.

8 «W. Irving Dixon,” American Institute of Architects (AIA) membership file and correspondence, 1944-
1970, AIA Archives, Washington, D. C.
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Edward County, Fort Lee High School in Prince George County, Greensville County High
School, Clarke County High School, Southside High School in Dinwiddie County, an African
American elementary school in Fairfax County, an African American high school in Caroline
County, Walnut Hill Elementary School and Peabody High School in Petersburg, and Tuckahoe
School, Lakeside School, and Highland Springs High School in Henrico County.*® In
Mecklenburg County, the firm rendered plans for two classrooms and a 500-seat auditorium at
Boydton High School (1948), John Groom Elementary School (1949), four classrooms and a
450-seat auditorium at LaCrosse High School (1950), a home economics building at Buckhorn
High School, plumbing and heating system installation at Clarksville High School, and repairs at
Thyne Institute. However, in August 1949 the MCSB engaged Richmond architect J. Binford
Walford to design the Groom School addition.*

Dixon and Norman continued to guide school planning throughout Virginia. Commissions from
1956 until 1967 include Ettrick Area Elementary School, Thomas Dale High School’s original
complex and an addition, West Petersburg Elementary School and additions to Petersburg High
School and Blandford School in Petersburg, enlargement of Carver High School in Chesterfield
County, and expansion of Pleasant Hill High School in King and Queen County.®!

Macon Gordon Norman (November 5, 1908 - February 16, 1992)

After Plymouth, North Carolina, native Macon Gordon Norman received a degree from North
Carolina State College of Agriculture and Engineering (now North Carolina State University) in
1929, he undertook a year of additional study at Yale University. Norman returned to Plymouth
in June 1930 and worked as an architectural draftsman for engineer A. J. Riddle until October,
when he accepted a similar position with Durham, North Carolina, architects Atwood and
Weeks. He remained with the firm for one year. In November 1932, Norman commenced his
tenure at the Virginia State Department of Education’s School Buildings Division in Richmond,
first as a junior and then senior draftsman. He became an assistant architect in January 1943 and
attained membership in the American Institute of Architects in 1944. Norman partnered with W.
Irving Dixon to create an independent architecture practice in 1946.%

% “Dixon and Norman,” AIA Architects’ Roster Questionnaire, 1953, AIA Archives, Washington, D. C.;
“Colored News,” Rappahannock Record, March 9, 1950, p. 10; “Approve Plans for Plant,” Progress Index
(hereafter abbreviated PI), April 10, 1953, p. 11; Howard Eanes, “School Buildings Rank High Among Recent
Improvements,” Pl, February 5, 1954, p. 21.

% Dixon and Norman , architects, “South Hill Negro Elementary School,” October 1947, and “Auditorium
and Cafeteria Addition,” July 1949; MCSBMM, August 1, 1949; August 29, 1949.

61 “Final Plans for Addition to School are Authorized,” Pl, February 8, 1956, p. 1; “Lowest Bid for School
Job $48,000,” Southside Sentinel, December 12, 1957, p. 7, Hugh Moore, “New Ettrick School Will Open After
Christmas Holidays,” Pl, December 24, 1961, p. 16; Hugh Moore, “Chesterfield Lets Contract for New Thomas
Dale School,” PI, August 1, 1963, p. 13; “Dinwiddie Will Open School Bids,” Pl, November 8, 1965, p. 10;
“Chesterfield OK’s Sketch for 2 Schools,” P, September 23, 1965, p. 18.

62 “Macon Gordon Norman,” American Institute of Architects (AIA) membership file and correspondence,
1944-1970, and “Dixon and Norman,” AIA Architects’ Roster Questionnaire, 1953, AIA Archives, Washington, D.
C.
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Samuel Nicholson Mayo (December 28, 1900 - November 14, 1969)

Samuel Nicholson Mayo, born in Washington, North Carolina, resided in New Bern prior to his
1919 acceptance to North Carolina State College in Raleigh. He completed one year of study at
that institution. Mayo was an architectural draftsman in I. T. Skinner’s Richmond firm from
January until November 1925. He then held a similar position in Richmond architect L. Otis
Spiers’s office until February 1930, when he became a Virginia State Department of Education’s
School Buildings Division employee. After leaving the division in October 1939, he worked for
Richmond architects Baskerville and Son for six months, followed by two years in the Richmond
architecture firm Carneal, Johnston, and Wright. From December 1942 until July 1943, he
resided in Portsmouth, Virginia, and drafted buildings for the military. Mayo was subsequently
employed in Richmond architects Slaughter, Saville, and Blackburn’s office until establishing
his own firm in the late 1940s.°> The MCSB executed a contract with Mayo to provide plans for
the county’s school construction projects in June 1950. This arrangement continued through the
1960s. Many of these buildings are extant.®* Mayo’s commissions elsewhere during this period
include additions to Northumberland High School, Colonial Heights City Hall, North Elementary
School in Colonial Heights, Ferguson High School, and Sedgefield, Deer Park, South Morrison,
Riverside, Reservoir, and Hidenwood elementary schools in Warwick.®

John Binford Walford (March 5, 1891 — July 24, 1956)

Richmond native John Binford Walford honed his architectural drafting skills at Virginia
Mechanics Institute while working as a draftsman for architects Scarborough and Howell in his
hometown from 1910 until 1911. He was then employed by Richmond architects Carneal and
Johnston, rising from junior to senior draftsman in his six years with that firm. In 1918, he
became chief draftsman in prolific Richmond architect Charles M. Robinson’s office. Robinson
specialized in educational and institutional commissions in the classical style, with an oeuvre
encompassing almost four hundred Virginia public schools and myriad buildings at institutions
such as Mary Washington College (now University of Mary Washington) in Fredericksburg,
Radford University in Radford, the State Normal School and Industrial School for Women (now
James Madison University) in Harrisonburg, and the College of William and Mary in
Williamsburg. The firm designed the master plan and all buildings erected between 1908 and
1928 at State Normal School and over sixty projects at the College of William and Mary from
1921 to 1931. Walford was elevated to junior partnership prior to Robinson’s 1932 death. He
then assumed the firm’s leadership and operated under his name until 1946, when he established
a partnership with architect O. Pendleton Wright. Walford regarded his designs for Marshall

% North Carolina State College, The Victory Agromeck, 1919; Hill’s Richmond City Directories
(Richmond, Virginia; Hill Directory Company, 1927-1955); “Samuel Nicholson Mayo,” WWII Draft Registration
Card, February 16, 1942.

% MCSBMM, June 5, 1950; February 5, 1951, p. 31; March 5, 1951, p. 39.

65 “Samuel Nicholson Mayo,” American Institute of Architects (AIA) membership file and correspondence,
1944-1945, AIA Archives, Washington, D. C.; Thacher Lascelle, “Plans for Colonial Heights New City Hall
Approved by Council, PI, November 16, 1955, p. 15; “North’d Board Approves Plans,” Rappahannock Record,
August 14, 1958, p. 1; “Notice to Contractors,” PI, April 11, 1962, p. 22; “Samuel N. Mayo,” Daily Press (Newport
News), November 16, 1969, p. 10.
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Wythe Hall (1935) and Cary Stadium (1936) at College of William and Mary, E. Trinkle Library
at Mary Washington College (1942), Mary Munford School (1953) in Richmond, Luther Hilton
Foster Hall (1954) at Virginia State College in Richmond, and Woodrow Wilson High School
(1955) in Portsmouth to be among his most significant commissions. After Walford’s 1956
death, the firm became Wright, Jones, and Wilkerson, which was later acquired by Boynton
Rothschild Rowland Architects. That firm still operates in Richmond.®

% George S. Koyl, ed. American Architects Directory, 1st ed. (New York: R. R. Bowker, 1956), 582:Taylor
Cooper, “The Pinners Point Colored School,” unpublished paper for ARH 592, December 6, 2007; Paul L. Weaver,
“Public Schools of Richmond, Virginia, 1869-1930,” National Register of Historic Places Multiple Property
Documentation Form, 1992; John E. Wells and Robert E. Dalton, The Virginia Architects, 1835-1955 (Richmond,
Virginia: New South Architectural Press, 1997), 458-460.
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Primary location of additional data:

_ X State Historic Preservation Office
_ Other State agency

___ Federal agency

____ Local government
__University

__ Other

Mecklenburg County, VA

County and State

Name of repository: Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, VA

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): DHR No. 301-5063

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property __ 8.3 acres

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates
Datum if other than WGS84:
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)

1. Latitude: 36.726253 Longitude: -78.145956
2. Latitude: Longitude:

3. Latitude: Longitude:

4. Latitude: Longitude:

Or

UTM References

Datum (indicated on USGS map):

NAD 1927 or NAD 1983
1. Zone: Easting:
2. Zone: Easting:
3. Zone: Easting:
4. Zone: Easting :

Sections 9-end page 34

Northing:
Northing:
Northing:

Northing:



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
John Groom Elementary School Mecklenburg County, VA
Name of Property County and State

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

The nominated property consists of Mecklenburg County tax parcel record number 25849-
007 (8.3 acres). The true and correct historic boundary is shown on the enclosed Location
Map and Sketch Map.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The nominated parcel is the full extent of the acreage historically associated with John
Groom Elementary School, encompassing the property’s historic setting as well as all known
historic resources.

11. Form Prepared By

name/title: Heather Fearnbach

organization: Fearnbach History Services, Inc.

street & number: 3334 Nottingham Road

city or town: Winston-Salem state: _ NC  zip code: 27104
e-mail: N/A

telephone: 336-765-2661

date: 5/27/2017

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

e Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's
location.

e Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous
resources. Key all photographs to this map.

e Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to
the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo
date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on every
photograph.
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United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900

OMB No. 1024-0018

John Groom Elementary School

Name of Property

Photo Log

Name of Property: John Groom School

City or Vicinity: South Hill

County:

Photographer: Heather Fearnbach, Fearnbach History Services, Inc.

Mecklenburg State: VA

Date Photographed: May 18, 2017

Mecklenburg County, VA

County and State

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of

camera:

1 of 13:
2 0of 13:
30f13:
4 of 13:
50f13:
6 of 13:
7 of 13:
8 of 13:
9 of 13:

10 of 13:
11 of 13:
12 of 13:
13 of 13:

Looking northeast

1949 school, south elevation

1949 school, southeast oblique

1940 school and 1960 addition, looking southwest
1960 addition, southwest oblique

1949 school, east-west corridor, looking west
South classroom in west wing, looking north
South classroom in west wing, looking south

1950 auditorium/cafeteria, looking east
1950 auditorium/cafeteria, looking west

1960 addition, north-south corridor, looking north
1960 addition, southeast classroom, looking northwest
1960 addition, southeast classroom, looking east

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460

et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior,
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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John Groom School, 1050 Plank Road

South Hill, Mecklenburg County, Virginia
VDHR #301-5063
Location Map

National Register Boundary

Latitude:  36.726253
Longitude: -78.145956

Smith Street j——p

|

Plank Road

Heather Fearnbach, Fearnbach History Services, Inc. / May 2017
Base 2017 aerial photo courtesy of https://www.google.com/maps



John Groom School, 1050 Plank Road

South Hill, Mecklenburg County, Virginia
VDHR #301-5063
Sketch Map

Classroom Building, 1960

National Register Boundary

John Groom School
- 1 contributing
building

Smith Street p—>

Auditorium and
Cafeteria Wing, 1950

Heather Fearnbach, Fearnbach History Services, Inc. / May 2017
Base 2017 aerial photo courtesy of https://www.google.com/maps

Classroom Building, 1949

I

Plank Road

Scale 17 = approximately 150’
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DHR No. 301-5063










































UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

Requested Action: Nomination
Property Name: Groom, John, Elementary School

Multiple Name:

State & County: VIRGINIA, Mecklenburg

Date Received: Date of Pending List: Date of 16th Day: Date of 45th Day: Date of Weekly List:
1/10/2018 1/29/2018 2/13/2018 2/26/2018 2/16/2018
Reference number: SG100002138

Nominator: State

Reason For Review:

___Appeal X PDIL __ Text/Data Issue
__ SHPO Request ___Landscape __Photo
__Waiver __National ___Map/Boundary
___Resubmission ___Mobile Resource __ Period
___ Other __TCP ___Less than 50 years
__CLG
__ X Accept _ Return _ Reject 2/13/2018  Date

Abstract/Summary All procedural requirements have been met; The nomination form is adequately documented;
Comments: The nomination form is technically and professionally correct and sufficient.

Recommendation/ ACCEPT

Criteria
Reviewer  Edson Beall Discipline  Historian
Telephone Date

DOCUMENTATION: see attached comments : No see attached SLR : No

If a nomination is returned to the nomination authority, the nomination is no longer under consideration by the
National Park Service.



HMecklenbury Qounty Board of Buperiisors BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Chairman

osf Office Box 307 + Bopdton, Hirginia 23917 Gregg Gordon
¥ ? ? b i ﬁ g Vice-Chairman
‘W. E. Blalock

H. Wayne Carter Il David Brankley
County Administrator Andy Hargrove
Emergency Services Director Jim Jennings

Claudia H. Lundy

Glanzy M. Spain, Jr.
Dan Tanner

September 19, 2017

Department of Historic Resources
Mzr. James Hare

2801 Kensington Avenue
Richmond, Virginia 23221

Dear Mr, Hare,

The Mecklenburg County Board of Supervisors is unanimously in favor of the John Groom
School, being included in the Virginia Landmark Register. The School has a long and illustrious
history that should be preserved and told to future generations. This designation will enable the
School to be repurposed and its story told to our citizens.

Please feel free to contact me on this matter.

“"H. Wayne Carter, II1.
County Administrator

434-738-6191 + FAX 434-738-6804



COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA

Department of Historic Resources

Molly Joseph Ward 2801 Kensington Avenue, Richmond, Virginia 23221 Julie V. Langan
Secretary of Natural Resources Director

Tel: (804) 367-2323
Fax: (804) 367-2391
January 8, 2018 www.dhr.virginia.gov

Mr. Paul Loether

Chief, National Register of Historic Places and National Historic Landmarks Programs
National Park Service 2280

National Register of Historic Places

Mail Stop 7228

1849 C St., NW

Washington, D.C. 20240

Re: John Groom Elementary School, Mecklenburg County, Vitginia

Dear Mr. Loether:

The enclosed disk contains the true and cotrect copy of the nomination for the John Groom
Elementary School to the National Register of Historic Places. Submitted for your review, the
nomination has been considered, and approved, by the State Review Board and the Virginia
SHPO has recommended it for listing. Any letters of comment or objection have been copied

at the end of the nomination material, along with any FPO notification letters.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. My direct phone line is
804-482-6439.

Sincerely,

o SN Deld

T.ena Sweeten McDonald
National /State Register Historian

Enclosures
Western Region Office Northern Region Office Eastern Region Qffice
962 Kime Lane 5357 Main Street 2801 Kensington Avenue
Salem, VA 24153 PO Box 519 Richmond, VA 23221
Tel: (540) 387-5443 Stephens City, VA 22655 Tel: (804) 367-2323
Fax: (540) 387-5446 Tel: (540) 868-7029 Fax: (804) 367-2391

Fax: (540) 868-7033





